## IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC04-1134

IN RE: ADVISORY OPINION
TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL
RE: REFERENDA REQUIRED FOR
ADOPTION AND AMENDMENT OF
LOCAL GOVERNMENT COMPREHENSIVE
LAND USE PLANS

# INITIAL BRIEF OF THE SPONSOR FLORIDA HOMETOWN DEMOCRACY, INC.

Ross Stafford Burnaman
Attorney at Law
Fla. Bar No. 397784
1018 Holland Drive
Tallahassee, Florida 32301
(850) 942-1474
Counsel for the Sponsor

###

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

By letter dated July 13, 2004, Floridas Attorney General requested this Courts opinion on the validity of a constitutional amendment initiative petition sponsored by Florida Hometown Democracy, Inc. (Athe Initiative@). See, Section 16.061, Fla. Stat. (2003).

The Attorney General did not take any position on the legal sufficiency of the Initiative petition, but he mentioned three items for possible consideration: (1) that the ballot summary and text may Ainclude language that may be considered political rhetoric@ or Aemotional language that may mislead the voter@; (2) that voters may not understand the implications of Section 163.3167(4), Florida Statutes (2003), vis a vis the Initiative; and (3) that since the Initiative Abroadly defines@ the term Alocal government comprehensive land use plan,@ it may create confusion over Asuch land use issues as zoning.@

On July 14, 2004, this Court issued a scheduling Order in this case.

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Florida Hometown Democracy, Inc. is the political action committee sponsor of a citizen initiative petition proposed pursuant to Article XI, Section 3 of the Florida Constitution (1968).

On June 18, 2003, the Florida Division of Elections approved the Initiative, and assigned the Initiative

petition Serial Number 03-23.

On June 25, 2004, the Secretary of State notified the Attorney General that the Initiative qualified for review by this Court.

The title of the Initiative is AReferenda Required for Adoption and Amendment of Local Government Comprehensive Land Use Plans.@

The ballot summary provides:
Public participation in local government
comprehensive land use planning benefits
Florida=s natural resources, scenic beauty and
citizens. Establishes that before a local
government may adopt a new comprehensive land
use plan, or amend a comprehensive land use
plan, the proposed plan or plan amendment shall
be subject to vote of the electors of the local
government by referendum, following preparation
by the local planning agency, consideration by
the governing body and notice. Provides
definitions.

The full text of the Initiative is as follows: BE IT ENACTED BY THE PEOPLE OF FLORIDA THAT:

Article II, Section 7. Natural resources and scenic beauty of the Florida Constitution is amended to add the following subsection:

Public participation in local government comprehensive land use planning benefits the conservation and protection of Floridas natural resources and scenic beauty, and the long-term quality of life of Floridians. Therefore, before a local government may adopt a new comprehensive land use plan, or amend a comprehensive land use plan, such proposed plan or plan amendment shall be subject to vote of the electors of the local government by referendum, following preparation by the local planning agency, consideration by the governing body as provided by general law, and notice thereof in a local newspaper of general circulation. Notice and referendum will be as provided by general law. This amendment

shall become effective immediately upon approval by the electors of Florida.

For purposes of this subsection:

- ALocal government@ means a county or municipality.
- ALocal government comprehensive land use plane means a plan to guide and control the future land development in an area under the jurisdiction of a local government.
- ALocal planning agency@ means the agency of a local government that is responsible for the preparation of a comprehensive land use plan and plan amendments after public notice and hearings and for making recommendations to the governing body of the local government regarding the adoption or amendment of a comprehensive land use plan.
- AGoverning body@ means the board of county commissioners of a county, the commission or council of a municipality, or the chief elected governing body of a county or municipality, however designated.

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Initiative does not violate the single subject requirement of Article XI, Section 3 of the Florida Constitution. The Initiative consists of a single dominant plan to enhance Floridas environmental policy by increasing public participation in local government comprehensive land use planning. A referendum vote of local electors will be required in order to adopt or amend a local government comprehensive land use plan once such plan or plan amendment is prepared by the local planning agency and considered by the local governing body.

The ballot title and summary for the Initiative meet the requirements of Section 101.161(1), Florida Statutes (2003).

#### ARGUMENT

STANDARD OF REVIEW: The standard of review is de novo. The Court=s review is limited to two legal issues: whether the Initiative satisfies the single-subject requirement in Article XI, Section 3 of the Florida Constitution; and if the ballot title and summary meet the requirements of Section 101.161(1), Florida Statutes (2003). See, Advisory Op. to the Att=y Gen. Re Amendment to Bar Gov=t From Treating People Differently Based on Race in Pub. Educ., 778 So.2d 888, 890-91 (Fla. 2000); Advisory Op. to Att=y Gen. re Term Limits Pledge, 718 So.2d 798, 801 (Fla. 1998). The Court must approve the Initiative unless it is Aclearly and conclusively defective.@ Advisory Op. to the Att=y Gen. Re: Florida=s Amend. to Reduce Class Size, 816 So.2d 580, 582 (Fla. 2002). The Court uses Aextreme care, caution and restraint before it removes a constitutional amendment from the vote of the people.@ Askew v. Firestone, 421 So.2d 151, 156 (Fla. 1982). ASuch amendments are reviewed under a forgiving standard and will be submitted to the voters if at all possible.@ Advisory Op. to the Att=y Gen. re: Right to Treatment & Rehab. for Non-Violent Drug Offenses, 818 So.2d 491, 494 (Fla. 2002). The Court does not rule on the wisdom or the merits of an initiative. See, Advisory Op. to the Att=y Gen. re Amendment to Bar Gov=t From Treating People Differently Based on Race in Pub. Educ., 778 So.2d at

891.

## I. THE INITIATIVE SATISFIES THE SINGLE-SUBJECT REQUIREMENT.

With one exception not applicable here, the Florida Constitution restricts citizens= initiatives to Aone subject and matter directly connected therewith.@ Art. XI, s. 3, Fla. Const. The Initiative satisfies the single-subject requirement.

#### A. THE INITIATIVE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE LOGROLLING.

The single-subject limitation has been interpreted to prevent Alogrolling®, or combining different matters (or measures) into one initiative so that electors will have to vote in favor of something that they do not want in order to gain something that they do want. Advisory Op. to Att=y Gen. re Fla. Transp. Initiative, 769 So.2d 367, 369 (Fla. 2000).

The Court evaluates whether or not a proposed amendment constitutes Alogrolling@ under a Aoneness of purpose@ standard. Fine v. Firestone, 448 So.2d 984, 990 (Fla. 1984). A proposed amendment meets this standard when it:

may be logically viewed as having a natural relation and connection as component parts or aspects of a single dominant plan or scheme. Unity of object and plan is the universal test.

Id. (quoting City of Coral Gables v. Gray, 19 So.2d 318,
320 (Fla. 1944)).

The Initiative should be logically viewed as a single dominant plan to enhance Florida=s environmental

policy by increasing public participation in local government comprehensive land use planning. To that end, the Initiative will require a referendum vote in order to adopt or amend a local government comprehensive land use plan, once such plan or plan amendment is prepared by the local planning agency and considered by the local governing body.

B. THE INITIATIVE ALTERS ONLY ONE LOCAL FUNCTION.

The second aspect of the single-subject requirement bars an amendment from: substantially altering or performing the functions of multiple aspects of government and thereby causing multiple precipitous and cataclysmic changes in state government.

Advisory Op. to the Att=y Gen. re: Right to Treatment & Rehab. for Non-Violent Drug Offenses, 818 So.2d at 495.

In 1968, Floridas Constitution was amended to include Article II, Section 7. It expresses State policy to Aconserve and protect@ Floridas environment and requires that Aadequate provision shall be made by law@ toward that end. The Initiative enhances that policy by expanding citizen participation in the local land use planning process. The Initiative simply substitutes a referendum vote in lieu of final legislative action by a local governing body regarding any ordinance that would adopt, or amend, a local government comprehensive land use plan.

Comprehensive land use planning legislation

implementing Article II, Section 7 of the Florida

Constitution supports the conclusion that the Initiative
only alters one local function.

The Florida Land and Water Management Act of 1972 was adopted with the express purpose to Aprotect the natural resources and environment of this state@ as provided in Article II, Section 7 of the Florida Constitution. Section 380.021, Florida Statutes (2003); Ch. 72-317, Laws of Fla. (1972). See also, Department of Community Affairs v. Moorman, 664 So.2d 930, 932 (Fla. 1995)(Article II, Section 7 supports State land use regulations for environmental protection).

Three years later, the Legislature enacted additional implementing legislation -- the Local Government Comprehensive Planning Act of 1975. Ch. 75-257, Laws of Fla. (1975)(codified at Section 163.3161, et. seq., Fla. Stat. (1975)). The stated purpose of the 1975 Act was: In conformity with, and furtherance of, the purpose of the Florida Environmental Land and Water Management Act of 1972, chapter 380, it is the purpose of this act to utilize and strengthen the existing role, processes, and powers of local governments in the establishment and implementation of comprehensive planning programs to guide and control future development.

Section 163.3161 (2), Fla. Stat. (1975). The 1975 Act required local governments to adopt comprehensive plans, which are also known as Alocal government comprehensive land use plans, Alocal comprehensive plans. See, Point II.B. of this Brief.

Prior to the 1975 Act, some local governments had adopted Amaster plans@ or Acomprehensive plans.@ See, Town of Surfside v. Abelson, 106 So.2d 108 (Fla. 3d DCA 1958)(Amaster plan@); Town of Belleair v. Moran, 244 So.2d 532 (Fla. 2<sup>nd</sup> DCA 1971)(Acomprehensive plan@).

The 1975 Act was substantially amended by the Local Government Comprehensive Planning and Land Development Regulation Act. Ch. 85-55, Laws of Fla. (1985). However, the stated purpose of the 1985 Act was identical to the 1975 Act. Section 163.3161(2), Fla. Stat. (1985).

Both the 1975 and 1985 Acts prescribe a basic local government land use planning process. A Alocal planning agency@prepares comprehensive plans and plan amendments. The local planning agency provides notice and the opportunity for public participation in the planning process. Thereafter, the local governing body provides notice and one or more public hearings to consider the adoption of the comprehensive land use plan or plan amendment. See, Sections 163.3174, 163.3181, 163.3184, 163.3187, Fla. Stat. (1975); Sections 163.3174, 163.3181, 163.3187, Fla. Stat. (2003).

The Initiative alters only one aspect of this well-established procedure. The Initiative simply provides that the final local legislative decision to adopt a plan or plan amendment shall be by referendum.

Local government comprehensive plan adoption and amendment decisions are legislative decisions. Coastal Development of North Florida, Inc. v. City of Jacksonville Beach, 788 So.2d 204, 205 (Fla. 2001); Martin County v. Yusem, 690 So.2d 1288 (Fla. 1997). Accordingly, such legislative decisions are properly subject to referenda.

Instead of Amultiple precipitous or cataclysmic@changes to State government, the

Initiative offers a single, incremental change in the local government land use legislative process.

Advisory Op. to the Att=y Gen. re: Right to Treatment & Rehab. for Non-Violent Drug

Offenses, 818 So.2d at 495.

The Initiative does <u>not</u> address ancillary land use matters or government functions such as Aland development regulations,@Adevelopment orders,@ or Adevelopment permits.@ See, Sections 163.3164(23)(definition of Aland development regulations@); 163.3164(7) (definition of Adevelopment order@); 163.3164(8) (definition of Adevelopment permit@), Florida Statutes (2003).

In Advisory Op. to Att=y Gen. re Property Rights Amendments Providing

Compensation for Restricting Real Property Use May Cover Multiple Subjects, 699 So.2d

1304, 1308 (Fla. 1997), this Court enumerated various Afunctions@ of government Aapplicable to land use@including: Acomprehensive planning, zoning, and controlling storm-water drainage and flood waters.@ Thus, this Court has recognized that Acomprehensive planning@is a singular governmental function and is distinct from other land use functions such as zoning.

The Initiative does not address or suggest any change to any existing processes of the executive branch (such as the Department of Community Affairs or Administration Commission). Similarly, the Initiative does not address or suggest any change to judicial remedies such as <u>de novo</u> or <u>certiorari</u> review of a local government=s adoption (or rejection) of a local government comprehensive plan or plan amendment. While the Initiative contains references to Ageneral law,@it does not require any Legislative action.

The Initiative should be Alogically viewed as having a natural relation and connection as component parts or aspects of a single dominant plan or scheme. Advisory Op. to Att=y Gen. re Fla. Locally Approved Gaming, 656 So.2d 1259, 1263 (Fla. 1995), quoting City of Coral Gables v. Gray, 19 So.2d 318, 320 (Fla. 1944).

# C. THE INITIATIVE DOES NOT SUBSTANTIALLY AFFECT ANY OTHER PROVISION IN THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

The Initiative does not violate the single-subject rule by substantially affecting any section of the Florida Constitution other than that section which is identified. See, Advisory Op. to the Att=y Gen. re Amendment to Bar Gov=t. from Treating People Different Based on Race in Public Ed., 778 So.2d 888, 893 (Fla. 2000).

The Initiative is consistent with Article I, Section 1 of the Florida Constitution, but does not Aaffect@it. This Court has recognized that the referendum is Athe essence@of the power reserved in Article I, Section 1 of the Florida Constitution. Florida Land Co. v. City of Winter Springs, 427 So.2d 170 (Fla. 1983).

The Initiative meets the single-subject limitation.

## II. THE BALLOT TITLE AND SUMMARY MEET THE REQUIREMENTS OF SECTION 101.161(1), FLORIDA STATUTES.

Section 101.161(1), Florida Statutes (2003), provides that whenever a constitutional amendment is submitted to the vote of the people, a title and summary of the amendment must appear on the ballot.

### A. THE BALLOT TITLE MEETS STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS.

As to the title, the statute provides:

The ballot title shall consist of a caption, not exceeding 15 words in length, by which the measure is commonly referred to or spoken of.

Section 101.161(1), Fla. Stat. (2003). The ballot title of the Initiative is: AReferenda Required for Adoption and Amendment of Local Government Comprehensive Land Use Plans.<sup>®</sup> The ballot title meets the statutory requirements.

### B. THE BALLOT SUMMARY MEETS STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS.

As to the ballot summary, the statute requires:

[T]he substance of the amendment or other public measure shall be an explanatory statement, not exceeding 75 words in length, of the chief purpose of the measure.

Id.

The ballot summary meets the statutory word limitation and explains the chief purpose of the Amendment as follows:

Public participation in local government comprehensive land use planning benefits

Florida=s natural resources, scenic beauty and citizens. Establishes that before a
local government may adopt a new comprehensive land use plan, or amend a
comprehensive land use plan, the proposed plan or amendment shall be subject
to vote of the electors of the local government by referendum, following
preparation by the local planning agency, consideration by the governing body
and notice. Provides definitions.

This Court has stated that the basic purpose of the statute is Ato provide fair notice of the content...so that the voter will not be misled as to its purpose, and can cast an intelligent and informed ballot.@ Advisory Op. to Att=y Gen. B Fee on Everglades Sugar Prod., 681 So.2d

1124, 1127 (Fla. 1996).

The Court=s Afair notice@inquiry concerns two questions. First, do the ballot title and summary fairly inform voters as to the Achief purpose@of the amendment? Advisory Op. to the Att=y Gen. re: Right to Treatment & Rehab. for Non-Violent Drug Offenses, 818 So.2d at 497. Secondly, Awhether the language of the title and summary, as written, misleads the public.@ Advisory Op. to Att=y Gen. re Right of Citizens to Choose Health Care Providers, 705 So.2d 563, 566 (Fla. 1998).

The first sentence of the ballot summary fairly informs voters of the text of the first sentence of the Initiative.

This Court has stated:

[t]he legislature is required by article II, section 7 of the Florida Constitution to regulate the use of land to protect Florida=s natural resources and scenic beauty.

Advisory Op. to Att=y Gen. re Property Rights Amendments Providing Compensation for Restricting Real Property Use May Cover Multiple Subjects, 699 So.2d at 1308.

The second sentence of the summary clearly advises that this increased public participation will be implemented via the requirement of a local referendum prior to local government adoption of a new comprehensive plan, or amendment to a comprehensive plan. The second sentence also explains that the referendum will follow preparation of the comprehensive land use plan or amendment by the local planning agency, consideration by the governing body, and notice. The last sentence advises voters that the Initiative provides definitions.

The Attorney Generals transmittal letter suggests that the Court may wish to consider whether the Aballot summary and text ... include language that may be considered political rhetoric. This concern, directed to the policy statement about Apublic participation is misplaced.

Citizen initiatives properly contain such expressions of public policy. The ALimited Marine Net Fishing@initiative provided in part:

The marine resources of the State of Florida belong to all of the people of the state and should be conserved and managed for the benefit of the state, its people, and future generations.

Art. X, S. 16, Fla. Const. See, Advisory Op. to Att=y Gen. B Limited Marine Net Fishing, 620 So.2d 997 (Fla. 1993). The AHigh-Speed Rail@initiative provides in relevant part:

To reduce traffic congestion and provide alternatives to the traveling public, it is hereby declared in the public interest that a high speed ground transportation system...be developed and operated....

Art. X, S. 19, Fla. Const. See, Advisory Op. to Att=y Gen. re: Fla. Transp. Initiative, 769
So.2d at 367. More recently the APregnant Pig@initiative stated: AInhumane treatment of animals is a concern of Florida citizens.@See, Advisory Op. to Att=y Gen. re Limiting Cruel and Inhumane Confinement of Pigs During Pregnancy, 815 So.2d 597 (Fla. 2002).

APolitical rhetoric@that Amaterially misstates the substance of the amendment@cannot appear in the ballot <u>summary</u>. <u>In re Advisory Op. to the Att=y Gen. B Save Our Everglades</u>, 636 So.2d 1336, 1341-42 (Fla. 1994). However, in the case at bar, the ballot summary fairly summarizes the text of the proposed amendment. The Attorney Generals concern is directed to the merits of the <u>text</u> of the Initiative, rather than the legal sufficiency of the ballot summary. <u>See</u>, <u>Advisory Op. to the Att=y Gen. re Tax Limitation</u>, 644 So.2d 486, 490 (Fla. 1994)(ballot summary must be accurate and informative and objective and free from political rhetoric).

The Attorney Generals transmittal letter also suggests that voters may not realize the implications of the Initiative <u>vis a vis</u> Section 163.3167(4), Florida Statutes (2003).<sup>2</sup> On its face, the Initiative only applies to adoption of comprehensive plans and plan amendments by a Alocal government@, which is defined as Aa county or municipality.@

In considering whether a ballot summary is misleading, the Court presumes that voters

Ahave a certain amount of common sense and knowledge.

See, Advisory Op. to Att=y Gen. re

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Attorney General refers to Alocal planning agency@ but the statute refers to Aregional planning agency@ which is defined in Section 163.3164(19), Florida Statutes (2003).

### Tax Limitation, 673 So.2d at 868.

Notwithstanding that the term is defined in the text, voters understand that the phrase Alocal government@refers to counties and cities. Accordingly, the Attorney Generals concern is meritless.

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