IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC04-1134

ADVISORY OPINION TO THE	RE: REFERENDA REQUIRED
ATTORNEY GENERAL	FOR ADOPTION AND
	AMENDMENT OF LOCAL
	GOVERNMENT
	COMPREHENSIVE LAND USE
	PLANS

BRIEF OF OPPONENT FOUNDATION FOR PRESERVING FLORIDAS FUTURE, INC.

On Direct Review of Validity of an Initiative Petition

Barry Richard Fla. Bar. No. 105599 Greenberg Traurig, P.A. P.O. Drawer 1838 Tallahassee, FL 33302 Telephone: (850) 222-6891

Fax: (850) 681-0207

Attorneys for Opponent Foundation for Preserving Floridas Future, Inc.

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Single-Subject Requirement

The proposed amendment substantially alters and performs the functions of multiple branches and levels of government. It does so by requiring public approval in a referendum election as a prerequisite to the adoption of any change in local land planning or regulation. The consequence of adoption of the amendment would be to shift the current broad discretion as to land planning and regulation that currently resides in state and local government agencies from those agencies to the public-at-large at the local level.

Adoption of the amendment would radically change the manner in which municipal and county governments control land development and regulate its use, one of the most significant and widely exercised powers of local government, by effectively reducing the power currently exercised by such governments to nothing more than the ability to recommend changes to the public. The amendment would also severely hamper, if not entirely curtail, the exercise of power by the Legislature to mandate minimum and coordinated standards of land planning by local governments, and the authority of the Governor, the Department of Community Affairs and the State Administration Commission to implement and enforce those standards.

By incorporating into the same amendment a restriction upon the discretion of government agencies at both the state and local level, the sponsors have confronted voters with an all-or-nothing choice that

3

¹ The amendment refers to adoption or amendment of a Acomprehensive land plan,@ but broadly defines that term as Aa plan to guide and control future land development in an area under the jurisdiction of a local government.@

constitutes prohibited logrolling.

The amendment also fails to comply with the independent requirement that it identify all affected provisions of the constitution. The amendment identifies only the provision it would expressly revise, Article II, Section 7, relating to natural resources and scenic beauty. It makes no reference to other substantially affected articles and sections such as Article III (legislative powers), Article IV (executive powers), and Article VIII (local government powers). The problems created by the failure of the amendment to identify all affected sections are exacerbated by the fact that the amendment creates a conflict between the requirement of the new provision and Article II, Section 7-s mandate that the Legislature make adequate provision Afor the conservation and protection of natural resources. This conflict, coupled with significant ambiguities in the amendment, would require the Court to engage in a degree of judicial construction that the Court has condemned as being contrary to the intent of the authors of the initiative provision and the electorate and a dangerous precedent.

Ballot Title And Summary

There are three separate defects in the ballot title and summary, any one of which would be sufficient to disqualify it for ballot position:

(1) The title and summary refer to Alocal government comprehensive land use planning. The quoted phrase gives the voter the impression that the amendment would apply only to broadly encompassing land plans and, in particular, to those plans meeting the criteria set forth in the Local Government Comprehensive Planning and Land Development Regulation Act, which uses the same terminology. The title and summary are misleading because they fail to disclose the existence in the amendment of a definition that would result in application to any enactment designed to guide and

control future land development;

- (2) The title and summary convey the impression that the amendment has solely local impact when, in fact, it would effectively dismantle a series of long-standing, statewide programs designed to establish minimum standards of environmental preservation and maintain coordinated state, regional and local land planning;
- (3) The opening line of the summary states: APublic participation in local government comprehensive land use planning benefits Florida's natural resources, scenic beauty and citizens.[®] The statement is political rhetoric designed to curry voter favor and obscure the fact that the amendment would provide far more than Apublic participation.[®] The summary thus fails to meet the requirement that it be objective and free from political rhetoric.

ARGUMENT

I

THE PROPOSED AMENDMENT VIOLATES THE SINGLE-SUBJECT REQUIREMENT OF ARTICLE XI, SECTION 3 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

A. The amendment would alter and perform functions of multiple branches and levels of government.

In its evaluation of proposed amendments with respect to the single-subject requirement, this Court has recognized an important dichotomy. The fact alone that a proposed amendment affects different branches of government or the possibility that an amendment might interact with other parts of the constitution is not sufficient to invalidate it. *Race In Public Education*, 778 So. 2d 888 (Fla. 2001). On the other hand, a proposal violates Article XI, Section 3 when it Asubstantially alters or performs the functions of multiple aspects of government@ or Achanges more than one government function.@ *Voluntary Universal Pre-Kindergarten Education*, 824 So. 2d 161 (Fla. 2002).² In this case, there is no question that the proposed amendment both alters and performs the functions of multiple levels and branches of government and is directly analogous to prior cases in which the Court has invalidated initiatives for violation of the single-subject requirement.

1. Local Government

The amendment would have a direct and substantial impact upon the

² The Court has interchangeably referred to altering or performing the functions of Amultiple aspects of government@ with Amultiple branches,@ *Race In Public Education*, 778 So. 2d at 892, or changing Amore than one government function.@ *Voter Approval of New Taxes*, 644 So. 2d 486, 490.

exercise of power by municipalities and counties. Both are empowered by Article VIII of the Constitution (and by general law in the case of non-charter counties) to regulate land use within their jurisdictions to the extent not inconsistent with general law. The regulation of land use is one of the most significant and widely exercised powers of local government. Today, the discretion of local legislative body and administrative agencies to exercise that power is limited only by parameters set by the Legislature and state agencies exercising delegated legislative authority.

The proposed amendment would severely limit the discretion of governing bodies of municipalities and counties and would shift the ultimate decision on land planning and regulation from city and county commissions to popular vote. Even if the amendment were truly limited as the title and summary suggest to Acomprehensive land use plans, its impact on local government authority would be substantial. However, the proposed amendment contains a definition of the term that significantly broadens its application to include virtually every land use regulation. The amendment defines the term to include any plan Ato guide and control future land development. That would include any zoning regulation, road construction plan, parks and recreation facilities plan, environmental regulation, and so on.

In the significant area of land planning and regulation, the broad legislative policy and decision-making power currently possessed by city and county commissions would be transformed into the limited power to Arecommend@changes to the public-at-large. Control over land regulation by elected officials would be Imited not only by the legal necessity for public approval of every change, but by the practical prospect of having to undertake the disruption and expense of an election before any change could

take effect. The amendment would effectively eliminate the ability of local governments to carry out state-mandated land planning obligations and to achieve regional coordination.

2. The Florida Legislature

The amendment would both alter and perform significant legislative functions. Article II, Section 7 of the Florida Constitution imposes upon the Legislature the duty of conserving and protecting the state-s natural resources and scenic beauty. The Legislature has enacted a series of major, interrelated programs for the express purpose of fulfilling its duty as mandated by Article II, Section 7. Included among those programs are the Environmental Land and Water Management Act, ' 380.012, Fla. Stat., *et seq.* (1972), the Local Government Comprehensive Planning and Land Development Regulation Act, ' 163.3161, Fla. Stat., *et seq.* (1975), the Coastal Management Act, '

³ AAdequate provision shall be made by law for the abatement of air and water pollution and of excessive and unnecessary noise and for the conservation and protection of natural resources.[®]

⁴ Section 380.21, Florida Statutes states:

It is the legislative intent that, in order to protect the natural resources and environment of this state as provided in s. 7, Art. II of the State Constitution, ensure a water management system that will reverse the deterioration of water quality and provide optimum utilization of our limited water resources, facilitate orderly and well-planned development, and protect the health, welfare, safety, and quality of life of the residents of this state, it is necessary adequately to plan for and guide growth and development within this state. In order to accomplish these purposes, it is necessary that the state establish land and water management policies to guide and coordinate local decisions relating to growth and development; that such state land and water management policies should, to the maximum possible extent, be implemented by local governments through existing processes for the guidance of growth and development; and that all the existing rights of private property be preserved in accord with the constitutions of this state and of the United States.

⁵ Section 163.3161, Florida Statutes, provides:

380.20, Fla. Stat., *et seq.* (1978), and the Growth Policy Act, '163.2511, Fla. Stat. *et seq.*(1999). All of these acts constitute an exercise of Legislative discretion to set policy or impose requirements upon local government in the planning and regulation of land development. For example, local governments are required by the Local Government Comprehensive Planning and Land Development Regulation Act, '163.3161, Fla. Stat., *et seq.*, to adopt local comprehensive land plans that are consistent with the state comprehensive plan.

The proposed amendment would substantially alter the land planning functions of the Legislature because the local referendum required by the amendment is not limited to land planning acts initiated by local governments at their own discretion. It applies to all such acts occurring at the local level, including those mandated by the Legislature or state executive agencies. Thus, the amendment would significantly reduce the Legislatures power to exercise discretion with respect to local land planning. The Legislature would no longer have the ability to mandate that cities and counties adopt or change land planning or regulatory ordinances since any such change would require approval by local referendum. For this reason, the Legislature would also lose the ability to accomplish statewide and regional coordination.

In addition to altering and performing the land planning and regulatory function of two levels of government, the amendment would substantially alter the performance of the functions of both the legislative and executive branches. In addition to the alteration of legislative functions already

In conformity with, and in furtherance of, the purpose of the Florida Environmental Land and Water Management Act of 1972, chapter 380, it is the purpose of this act to utilize and strengthen the existing role, processes, and powers of local governments in the establishment and implementation of comprehensive planning programs to guide and control future development.

discussed, the amendment would alter the functions of at least four executive branch agencies.

3. The Governor

The Governor, as chief executive officer of the state, is charged by Article IV, Section 1 of the Florida Constitution with the responsibility for state planning, and by Article III, Section 19 with responsibility for development and biennial review and revision of the state planning document. In keeping with those responsibilities, the Legislature has delegated to the Governor the duty of preparing, updating, revising, and implementing the state comprehensive plan. ' 186.006, 186.008, Fla. Stat. The Governor is specifically mandated to Acoordinate planning among federal, state, regional, and local levels of government and between this state and other states, Afor the purpose of establishing consistency and uniformity in the state and regional planning process and in order to ensure that the intent of ss. 186.001-186.031 and 186.801-186.901 is accomplished. 186.006, Fla. Stat. The cited sections deal with the preparation by the Governor of the state comprehensive plan and, in particular, the growth management portion of the plan. Within the Legislatures statement of findings and intent is the following language:

186.002 Findings and intent.--

- (1) The Legislature finds and declares that:
- (a) The issues of public safety, education, health care, community and economic development and redevelopment, protection and conservation of natural and historic resources, transportation, and public facilities transcend the boundaries and responsibilities of individual units of government, and often no single unit of government can plan or implement policies to deal with these issues without affecting other units of government.
- (b) Coordination among all levels of government is necessary to ensure effective and efficient delivery of governmental services to all the citizens of the state. It is therefore necessary to establish an integrated planning system and to ensure coordinated administration of government policies that

address the multitude of issues posed by the state's continued growth and development.

- (c) To promote intergovernmental coordination and the effective allocation of resources, the state should set goals to provide direction and guidance for state, regional, and local governments and agencies in the development and implementation of their respective plans, programs, and services. The preservation and enhancement of the quality of life of the people of this state require that a state comprehensive plan be adopted by the Legislature to provide policy direction for all state and regional agencies and local governments.
- (d) Regular evaluation of the state comprehensive plan is necessary to inform the public whether state goals are being attained. To accomplish this purpose, the state comprehensive plan should be evaluated biennially with any necessary revisions prepared through coordinated action by state and regional agencies and local governments.

(emphasis added) The proposed amendment severely limits the Governors ability to fulfill his constitutional responsibility for state planning and his statutory obligation to carry out the Legislatures intent to establish a coordinated and integrated state and local program of growth management that is regularly evaluated and updated.

4. The Florida Department of Community Affairs

The Department of Community Affairs, ⁶ acting in its capacity as the State Land Planning Agency, ¹ 163.3164(20), Fla. Stat., is responsible for adopting rules setting forth minimum criteria for local comprehensive plans, which rules must include criteria for the purpose of determining whether the local plan is consistent with the state comprehensive plan. ¹ 163.3174(9), Fla. Stat. The Department retains authority and responsibility to review new local comprehensive plans or plan amendments, and to issue a

11

⁶ The Department of Community Affairs is an executive branch agency, the head of which is appointed by the Governor. ' 20.18(1), Fla. Stat.

report with its objections, recommendations, and comments regarding each such proposal.

163.3184(6). The proposed amendment will eliminate the ability of the Department of Community Affairs to implement rules relating to local comprehensive plans. As with the Legislature, the Governor, and city and county commissions, the amendment would reduce the Department=s role to one of making recommendations.

5. The Administration Commission

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